RECEIVED

08-12-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015-AP-000795-CR Lower Court Case No. 2014 CT 81(Sauk County)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JASON S. WITTE,

Defendant-Appellant,

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAUK COUNTY, THE HONORABLE RICHARD O. WRIGHT PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Steven M. Cohen WI Bar 1026188 30 W. Mifflin St. #1001 Madison, WI 53703 (608) 255-9000

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

DID DEFENDANT MAKE A PRIMA FACIE CASE THAT HE WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO COUNSEL FOR A PREVIOUS CONVICTION WHEN HE SUBMITTED THE RELEVANT COURT RECORDS, PROOF THAT NO RELEVANT TRANSCRIPTS EXIST, AND A SWORN AFFIDAVIT?

The trial court answered NO.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument or publication is not necessary as the issues are not complex and sufficiently addressed in the existing case law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Jason S. Witte was charged with Operating Under The Influence and Operating With A Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (4th offense) in a criminal complaint filed 2/17/14. (1:1-4). On 11/11/14, Mr. Witte, by his Attorney Steven Cohen, filed a motion "To Exclude Prior Conviction For Determining Sentence." (29:1). The motion sought to exclude one prior conviction from Sauk County. Id. The motion included a sworn affidavit by Mr. Witte indicating that he did not knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waive his right to counsel. (14:1). Also included with the motion were the relevant court minutes, Plea Questionnaire, Waiver Of Right To Lawyer, and a statement from the relevant court reporter that no transcripts were available. (29:1-8).

A hearing on Mr. Witte's motion was had on 1/21/15. (25:1-30). The State objected that defendant did not make a prima facie case. The Honorable Patrick Taggart decided, based on the submitted materials, that Mr. Witte failed to make a prima facie case, and denied the motion. (25:27). Mr. Witte entered a plea and was sentenced on 4/17/15; on the same date he filed a timely Notice Of

Intent To Pursue Post Conviction Relief. (18:1). Mr. Witte filed a Notice Of Appeal on 4/20/15. (20:1).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On 10/11/04, Mr. Jason Witte appeared before the Honorable Guy Reynolds, Circuit Court Judge for Sauk County, Wisconsin. (29:2-8). Mr. Witte was convicted of 2nd offense drunk driving at that time, without the benefit of counsel. <u>Id</u>.

On 2/17/14, Mr. Witte was charged with drunk driving 4th offense in Sauk County. (1:1). The 2004 Sauk County conviction was used to enhance the 2014 Sauk County charges. <u>Id</u>. By motion, Mr. Witte sought to exclude the earlier conviction on the grounds of constitutional violation of his right to counsel. (29:1). In support of his motion, Mr. Witte filed an affidavit, swearing that at the time of the 2004 plea hearing, he was unfamiliar with the possible penalties applicable to the offense. (14:1).

At the hearing on the motion, Judge Taggart blamed the defendant for lack of diligence in discovering what the penalties were:

THE COURT: Well, they served [defendant] with a copy of the complaint. He knew he had it. He waived the reading of it. He doesn't read it. Why should he be able to collaterally attack it when he had all the documentation in front of him and he just chose not to read it? (25:17).

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Taggart reasoned:

[Defendant] does agree that he filled out the plea questionnaire, but he intentionally left the penalty portion blank because he didn't know it. He didn't know what it was...

Obviously, he had the opportunity to read the criminal complaint; in fact, he waived a reading of the criminal complaint and proceeded without doing that. I don't believe at this time that the-even though we don't have a transcript, which obviously could have told us exactly what happened at that plea agreement, but I believe a person that decides to proceed without a lawyer and does so after explaining all the benefits that a lawyer might entail to him decides to proceed without a lawyer and then comes back at this stage of the game, ten years later, and said, gee, I should have had a lawyer at that time, probably should not have proceeded without a lawyer. Well, I guess I agree with him. He probably shouldn't have done that, but is that enough to collaterally attack the conviction on that basis ten years later when there's no transcript available of the proceeding. (25:25-27).

ARGUMENT

MR WITTE MADE A PRIMA FACIE CASE THAT HE WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO COUNSEL FOR A PREVIOUS CONVICTION WHEN HE SUBMITTED THE RELEVANT COURT RECORDS, PROOF THAT NO RELEVANT TRANSCRIPTS EXIST, AND A SWORN AFFIDAVIT.

There is no question that a prior conviction can be attacked in a collateral proceeding. In State v. Hahn, 618 N.W.2d 528, 238

Wis.2d 889, 2000 WI 118, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin specifically decided this question. They said "We conclude that an offender does not have a federal constitutional right to use the enhanced sentence proceeding predicated on a prior state conviction as the forum in which to challenge the prior conviction, *except* when the offender alleges that a violation of the constitutional right to a lawyer occurred in the prior state conviction" (emphasis added). Id.

In the case of <u>State v. Peters</u>, 615 N.W.2d 655, 237 Wis.2d 741, 2001 WI 74, the constitutional right to use an enhanced criminal proceeding as the forum to collaterally challenge the earlier conviction was asserted. That court reaffirmed <u>Hahn</u>, when it said: "...we followed <u>Custis v. United States</u>, 511 U.S. 485 (1994) and

held that a defendant generally may not collaterally attack a prior conviction in a subsequent criminal case where the prior conviction enhances the subsequent sentence. There is an exception, however, for a collateral attack based upon an alleged violation of the defendant's right to counsel..."

The standard for deciding whether the constitutional right to a lawyer was satisfied was set forth in Pickens v. State, 96 Wis.2d 549, 292 N.W.2d 601 (1980). Pickens starts with the presumption that a defendant did **not** waive counsel; waiver must be affirmatively shown from the record. Id. Pickens requires that an intelligent waiver of counsel consist of four points that must be affirmatively shown to be understood by the defendant: 1) deliberate choice to proceed without counsel; 2) awareness of the advantages of counsel or disadvantages of self representation; 3) awareness of the seriousness of the charges; and 4) knowledge of the range of penalties that may be imposed.

Once a defendant makes a prima facie showing that one or more of the four <u>Pickens</u> factors was not fulfilled, the burden shifts to the state to overcome the presumption of non waiver. <u>State v. Baker</u>,

169 Wis.2d 49, 485 N.W.2d 237 (1992). The State may compel the defendant to answer questions under oath at an evidentiary hearing. Ernst, supra.

In <u>State v. Klessig</u>, 211 Wis.2d 194, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997) the Wisconsin Supreme Court clarified the <u>Pickens</u> standard. <u>Klessig</u> warned that unless a full colloquy was done on the record at the time of the plea, a later reviewing court can't find a valid waiver based on the record. <u>Id</u>.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court says producing transcripts from the challenged proceeding is not required. <u>State v. Baker</u>, 169 Wis.2d 49, 485 N.W.2d 237 (1992). <u>Baker</u> said:

Baker attempted to meet his burden of making a prima facie showing of a constitutional violation...by submitting two sworn affidavits, one stating that his attorneys made a good faith effort to find records of the prior proceeding but could not and the other stating that he at no time waived his right to counsel...We conclude that Baker met his burden of production under the circumstances of this case.

In <u>State v. Ernst</u>, 699 N.W.2d 92, 283 Wis.2d. 300, 2005 WI 107 defendant failed to make a prima facie case in a collateral challenge, because defendant relied *solely on a transcript* that merely showed the court did not follow correct waiver of counsel procedure. He did not provide any

documents or other evidence (such as an affidavit) alleging specific facts that demonstrated that he didn't know or understand the information which should have been provided. <u>Id</u>.

On appeal, the reviewing court applies, de novo, constitutional principles to the facts to determine whether a defendant has made a prima facie case that he did not knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waive his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. <u>Id</u>.

In Mr. Witte's case, a prima facie showing of a constitutional violation of right to counsel was made. Specifically, he was not aware of the penalties applicable to the drunk driving offense he was pleading "no contest" to. Mr. Witte provided an affidavit attesting that he was not informed of the penalty structure for drunk driving as a second offense, and that he did not discover that information on his own, or otherwise know the penalties. (14:1). Standing alone, the assertion is believable.

Unsophisticated defendants routinely do not know this type of information, and that is one reason why Klessig requires a colloquy. In this case, the circumstances surrounding the plea corroborate Mr. Witte's assertion. Mr. Witte produced a copy of the plea questionnaire that was used in the 2004 plea hearing. (29:3-4). The form is substantially completed except for a few portions. He filled in his name, the specific offenses he was pleading

to, his age, education level, and he checked numerous boxes indicating his understanding of varied information. However, the blanks on the form where the maximum, minimum, and presumptive minimum penalties are to be filled in were left blank. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Witte attested in his affidavit the reason for leaving those parts blank: he didn't know the information. (14:1). In fact, that is the most reasonable explanation.

There was also submitted a copy of the court minutes from both the initial appearance, and the plea hearing. (29:5-6). The minutes from the initial appearance indicate the reading of the criminal complaint was waived. Nothing indicates that the penalties were read to Mr. Witte on either minute sheet.

Finally, a note from the relevant court reporter was submitted, showing that Mr. Witte attempted to obtain a transcript, but none was available.

(29:8). The transcript was unavailable due to the age of the proceeding.

The totality of the circumstances indicate that Mr. Witte satisfied his burden to make a prima facie showing.

CONCLUSION AND REMEDY

Because Mr. Witte submitted a sufficient affidavit along with all available and relevant court records, he has made out a prima facie case under <u>Baker</u> and <u>Pickens</u>. The case should therefore be remanded and the burden shifts to the State to prove that there was a valid waiver of counsel in the two previous cases.