RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEAUS 15-20115 TRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 15 AP 795 CR Circuit Court Case No. 14 CT 81

VS.

JASON S. WITTE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAUK COUNTY, THE HONORABLE RICHARD O. WRIGHT PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Sue Mueller Assistant District Attorney Sauk County District Attorney's Office 515 Oak Street Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-3280 State Bar No. 1013430

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Jason Witte, Defendant-Appellant, filed a motion to "exclude prior conviction for determining sentence," otherwise known as a collateral attack motion, asking the Court not to consider his 2nd offense Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (PAC) conviction from Sauk County case 04 CT 593. (29:1.) As grounds for this motion, Witte filed an affidavit which stated he did not know the minimum and maximum penalties of the charge at the time of his plea, and no one told him before or during the plea hearing. (14:1; 29:2.) Attached to the motion were several relevant documents: a plea questionnaire/waiver of rights document, minutes from the initial appearance and plea hearings, waiver of right to lawyer form, and a letter from the court reporter stating that transcripts were unavailable as notes from 2004 had been destroyed. (29:3-8.)

In his affidavit, Witte further asserted that he left the penalty portion of the plea questionnaire blank because he did not know the penalties. (14:1; 29:2.) Witte stated he received a copy of the criminal complaint "at one time," but "did not read it carefully, or see that the penalties were on it." (14:1; 29:2.) The minutes of the initial appearance on 9/23/04 indicate that Witte received a copy of the criminal complaint and waived a reading of that complaint. (29:6.) At the motion hearing, the circuit court noted that the criminal complaint would have had

the penalties listed on it. (25:23, 27.)¹ The circuit court denied Witte's motion for collateral attack, stating that he failed to make a prima facie showing that his right to counsel was violated. (25:27.)

ARGUMENT

Witte appeals the circuit court's determination that he failed to make a prima facie showing necessary to shift the burden to the State. The State maintains that, upon review of Witte's motion in its entirety, the documents submitted do not arise to a prima facie showing that Witte's right to counsel was violated in the 2004 case that he seeks to collaterally attack.

Criminal defendants in Wisconsin have both the constitutional right to counsel and the constitutional right to self-representation. State v. Klessig, 211 Wis.2d 194, ¶ 7-8, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997). If a defendant knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waives his right to the assistance of counsel and is competent to proceed pro se, the circuit court must allow the defendant to represent himself. Id. ¶ 9. Before accepting a waiver of the right to counsel, the circuit court must conduct a colloquy designed to ensure the defendant:

- 1) Made a deliberate choice to proceed without counsel,
- 2) Was aware of the difficulties and disadvantages of self-representation,
- 3) Was aware of the seriousness of the charge or charges against him, and
- 4) Was aware of the general range of penalties that could have been imposed on him.

<u>Id.</u> ¶ 14.

¹ There seems to be no dispute that the criminal complaint did, in fact, have the appropriate minimum and maximum penalties listed.

A defendant may collaterally attack a prior conviction in an enhanced sentence proceeding only when the challenge is based on the grounds that he was denied the constitutional right to a lawyer. State v. Hahn, 2000 WI 118, ¶ 17, 238 Wis.2d 889, 618 N.W.2d 528. As a preliminary matter, a defendant must make a prima facie showing that his constitutional right to counsel in a prior proceeding was violated. State v. Ernst, 2005 WI 107, ¶ 25, 283 Wis.2d 300, 699 N.W.2d 92. The defendant must "point to facts that demonstrate that he or she 'did not know or understand the information which should have been provided' in the previous proceeding and, thus, did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his or her right to counsel." Id. (citation omitted). A motion that does not detail such facts will fail. Id. If the defendant makes a prima facie showing, the burden shifts to the State to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's waiver was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Id. ¶ 27.

Whether a party has met its burden of establishing a prima facie case is a question of law that an appellate court reviews independently. <u>State v. Baker</u>, 169 Wis.2d 49, 78, 485 N.W.2d 237 (1992).

I. The Documents Attached to Witte's Motion Directly Undermine His Affidavit to a Degree Which Renders His Motion Insufficient to Reach His Prima Facie Burden.

Witte's motion only challenges his conviction based upon the third and fourth Klessig factors: 3) whether he was aware of the seriousness of the charge or charges against him, and 4) whether he was aware of the general range of penalties that could have been imposed on him. Because he did not know the minimum and maximum penalties, Witte argues neither <u>Klessig</u> factor is satisfied.

Attached to Witte's motion were supplemental documents from the case in Sauk 04CT593 that directly undermine the veracity of the claims in his affidavit. One document, entitled "Waiver of Right to Lawyer" was signed and initialed by Witte. The first line initialed states "I understand that I am charged with a crime and that I may be incarcerated or required to pay a fine, or both, if I am convicted." (29:7.) The final line initialed states "I do understand my right to an attorney and I hereby voluntarily, freely and intelligently waive my right to have a lawyer at this time." (29:7.) This document, on its own, should signal to a criminal defendant the seriousness of the charge against him – he is charged with a crime for which he can be incarcerated and/or fined.

The minutes sheet of the initial appearance in Sauk 04CT593 further calls the affidavit into question. At that appearance on 9/23/04, Witte received a copy of the criminal complaint and waived a reading of the criminal complaint. (29:6.) The irony of this document being attached to the motion and affidavit is almost impossible to overemphasize. Witte was provided with a document that outlined the minimum and maximum penalties and specifically told the circuit court that those minimum and maximum penalties need not be read aloud to him in open court.

In his affidavit, Witte states that no one told him the minimum and maximum penalties, but then goes on to contradict himself by saying that he was provided

with the criminal complaint – which had those penalties listed on it – and that he simply failed to read it. (14:1; 29:2.) "Should" is the operative word in the Ernst requirement that a defendant must "point to facts that demonstrate that he or she 'did not know or understand the information which should have been provided' in the previous proceeding." 2005 WI 107, ¶ 25, 283 Wis.2d 300 (emphasis added). Witte does not allege that the information was not provided, he alleges that he did not pay attention to the information that was provided.

Given this information, the question then becomes: by failing to pay attention to the information that was provided to him, can Witte make a prima facie case for collateral attack simply by saying, in effect, "I wasn't listening" or "I wasn't paying attention" to what the circuit court told me?

A defendant's collateral attack motion need not allege a defective plea colloquy. State v. Bohlinger, 2013 WI App 39, ¶ 18, 346 Wis.2d 549, 828 N.W.2d 900 (defendant made a prima facie showing by alleging that his cognitive incapacity precluded him from understanding the information provided by the court). However, unlike the defendant in Bohlinger, Witte does not claim an inability to understand what was said at the plea hearing. Witte's motion is entirely silent on what was said at the plea hearing, other than saying he was never told the penalties (which is directly contradicted in the next paragraph of his affidavit and the accompanying court documents).

Upon collateral attack, a judgment carries with it a presumption of regularity.

Baker, 169 Wis.2d at 76, 485 N.W.2d 237. In fact, "[o]n collateral review, ... it

defies logic to presume from the mere unavailability of a transcript (assuming no allegation that the unavailability is due to governmental misconduct) that the defendant was not advised of his rights." Parke v. Raley, 506 U.S. 20, 30, 113 S.Ct. 517 (1992). Here, Witte does not allege the Court withheld information from him in the colloquy, he just says he was not paying attention to the information the court did give him. And although there is a requirement that courts indulge in every reasonable presumption against waiver of counsel, and that waiver will not be presumed from a silent record, Baker, 169 Wis.2d at 76, 485 N.W.2d 237, this record is anything but silent. Minutes, the waiver form, and the plea questionnaire all speak very loudly that Witte was appropriately advised of his rights.

At a certain point, we can only take a person at their word. Witte advised the court that he was 27 years old and completed 13 years of schooling. (29:3.) He said he had a high school diploma, said he understood the English language, and said "I do understand the charge(s) to which I am pleading." (29:3.) Everything in the record points to the conclusion that Witte went into the plea hearing with "eyes open." And because this record was provided with Witte's motion, the circuit court was justified in denying the motion without an evidentiary hearing. The burden need not be shifted to the State if all the documentation that the State would have otherwise submitted are in the defendant's motion, and directly undermine the allegations contained in the defendant's affidavit.

Witte's affidavit is contradictory within itself and self-serving. The documents attached to the motion affirmatively demonstrate that Witte did know the seriousness of the charges against him and that he was provided with the general range of penalties by the circuit court. The documents were sufficient to meet the State's burden of clear and convincing evidence of waiver, had the Defendant shifted the burden in the first place. But given that the documents were attached to the motion, and that they directly undermined the affidavit, they must be used by the Court to weigh whether Witte was entitled to a hearing. Although there is no transcript, the record otherwise undeniably suggests Witte knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to an attorney, and thus was not denied his constitutional right to counsel.

CONCLUSION

In this case, the circuit court appropriately weighed the record, taking into account the affidavit and the supplemental documents provided by the defense, and found that Witte failed to meet his burden. It was clear that that information on the seriousness of the charge and the penalties were, at the very least, provided at Witte's 2004 initial appearance in the form of the criminal complaint. Witte chose to ignore the information that the court provided him, and thus his claim that he did not know that information fails to have any traction. The court documents submitted with Witte's motion, and the accompanying presumptions of regularity to which they are entitled, undermines Witte's already weak affidavit such that he

fails to make a prima facie showing. For all the foregoing reasons, the trial court's decision must be affirmed.